I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

On March 21, 2006, Kathleen Smith, a developmentally disabled 

resident at the state operated Lakeland Village (Lakeland) residential care 

facility near Medical Lake, Washington, drowned in the bathtub after 

having an epileptic seizure. Kathleen Smith became a voluntary resident 

at Lakeland at age 14 and was always a voluntary resident there. 

Ms. Smith's seizure disorder was diagnosed when she was an infant and 

for many years her seizures had been controlled with medication. 

Nevertheless, because of Ms. Smith's history of seizure disorder, 

Lakeland's care plan for Ms. Smith required that she be visually 

supervised "at arm's length" while bathing. Lakeland employee Michael 

Noland was Ms. Smith's caregiver that day and when Ms. Smith told him 

that she was finished with her bath, he told her to go ahead and get out of 

the tub, left the bathroom area and became engaged in a conversation with 

his supervisor. 20 minutes later, another employee found Ms. Smith face 

down in the water in the tub. She could not be revived. Ms. Smith had 

had a seizure and collapsed into the tub. It was her first seizure in nearly 

18 years. 



This federal civil rights case, brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, 

against Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS), l DSHS 

Secretary Robin Arnold-Williams, DSHS Program Director Linda Rolfe 

and Mr. Noland by Ms. Smith's mother and brother, presents the central 

issue of whether Michael Noland violated Ms. Smith's liberty interest in 

safety and security protected by the Fourteenth Amendment by walking 

away from the bathroom instead of visually supervising Ms. Smith at 

arm's length as she ended her bath. The Defendants seek reversal of the 

trial court's order denying summary judgment. 

Summary judgment dismissing the action should have been 

granted because since Ms. Smith was not held in state custody against her 

will, had been a voluntary resident of Lakeland Village for 38 years and/or 

did not drown as a result of a state created danger, no constitutionally 

protected right was violated. Campbell v. State of Wash. Dep't ofSoc. & 

Health Servs., 671 F.3d 837, 839 (9th Cir. 2011), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 

275 (2012). Even if this court now finds that Ms. Smith had such a right 

and that it was violated, the individually named Defendants are entitled to 

qualified immunity because the right was not clearly established at the 

1 In addition to the department, Secretary, Director, and Mr. Noland, the 
complaint names DSHS's Division of Developmental Disabilities, DSHS's Aging and 
Disability Services Administration, and Lakeland Village as defendants. 
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time of the events in question. Ashcrofi v. al-Kidd, _ 131 S. 

Ct. 2074,2083, 1791. Ed. 2d 1149 (2011). 

In addition, summary judgment dismissing the action against 

DSHS and its subdivisions, Secretary Amold-Wil1iams, and Director 

Rolfe should have been granted because they are not apersons" subject to 

suit under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the Secretary and Director did not 

participate in the alleged violation of Ms. Smith's rights. Will v. Michigan 

Dep't. of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 109 S. Ct. 2304, 105 1. Ed. 2d 45 

(1989); Monell v. Dep't ofSoc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658,98 S. Ct. 2018, 56 1. 

Ed. 2d 611 (1978). 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in failing to grant summary judgment 

establishing qualified immunity and dismissing Plaintiffs' claims under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, because no federally protected right was violated, and if a 

federally protected right was violated, it was not clearly established at the 

time of the alleged violation. 

2. The trial court erred in failing to grant summary judgment 

dismissing Plaintiffs' 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims against the Department of 

Social and Health Services, DSHS Secretary Robin Arnold-Williams and 

DSHS Program Director Linda Rolfe because the state agency and its 
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officials sued in their official capacities are not "persons" against whom a 

§ 1983 action may be brought. 

3. The trial court erred in failing to grant summary judgment 

dismissing Plaintiffs' 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims against DSHS Secretary 

Robin Arnold-Williams and DSHS Program Director Linda Rolfe 

individually because neither Secretary Arnold-Williams nor Director 

Rolfe personally participated in the alleged violation of rights. 

III. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Whether Ms. Smith, a voluntary resident at Lakeland 

Village who was not taken into custody and held against her will, had a 

Fourteenth Amendment Due Process right to supervision while bathing. 

2. Whether the life-long seizure disorder which caused 

Ms. Smith to drown in the bathtub was a danger created by the state that 

Ms. Smith would not have otherwise faced. 

3. Whether the State of Washington, DSHS, DSHS Secretary 

Robin Arnold-Williams and/or DSHS Director Linda Rolfe, in their 

official capacities, are "persons" subject to suit under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

4. Whether DSHS Secretary Robin Arnold-Williams and/or 

Program Director Linda Rolfe personally participated in the failure to 

supervise Ms. Smith's bath. 

4 



IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Kathleen Smith was a 51-year-old, mentally disabled, voluntary 

resident of Lakeland Village, a state operated residential facility for persons 

with mental disabilities. CP at 43, 46. Ms. Smith became a voluntary 

resident of Lakeland Village at age 14 at her family's request and resided at 

Lakeland until her death on March 21, 2006. CP at 43, 48. Kathleen's 

mother, BettyJean Triplett was her legal guardian. CP at 46. Kathleen was 

always a voluntary resident at Lakeland, was not a ward of the state, was not 

in state custody, and was never involuntarily committed at Lakeland. CP at 

42-43. Ms. Smith was developmentally disabled and while she was not 

capable of living on her own, she became fairly independent in most of her 

daily routines at Lakeland. CP at 56. For example, though she was 

sometimes hard to understand, Kathleen could speak well and carry on a 

conversation, could dress herself, took medication herself with staff 

supervision, was employed at the Clay Factory painting ceramics and 

assisting other clients in the STARS program at Lakeland, and kept some of 

the money she earned in a savings account. CP at 55-57. 

Ms. Smith began having seizures shortly after her birth and 

medication was prescribed to control the seizures. CP at 55. Even though 

Ms. Smith's seizures were well controlled with medication-she had not had 

a seizure since February 1989-the prescription for anti-seizure ·medication 
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continued until her death. CP at 55-57, 59, 107. Because of her history of 

controlled seizures, Ms. Smith's care plan at Lakeland included a 

requirement that she be visually supervised within ann's reach while 

bathing. CP at 59, 141. 

On March 21, 2006, Ms. Smith was being assisted by 

Michael Noland, employed at Lakeland as an Attendant Counselor 3. CP at 

62. At approximately 4: 15 p.m., Mr. Noland asked Ms. Smith if she wanted 

a shower or a bath before dinner. CP at 62. Ms. Smith indicated she wanted 

a bath and at approximately 4:30 Mr. Noland accompanied Ms. Smith to the 

bathroom and assisted with running the bath. CP at 62. Approximately 15 

minutes after she got into the bath, Ms. Smith called to Mr. Noland and said 

she was finished. CP at 62. Mr. Noland told her to go ahead and get out of 

the bath, then left Ms. Smith unattended to get out and dry herself off. CP at 

62. 

Mr. Noland left the bathroom area and became engaged in 

conversation with another employee in another part of the residence. CP at 

62. Ms. Smith had been unattended for approximately 20 minutes when 

another employee discovered her unconscious in the bathtub. CP at 62. The 

autopsy indicated that Ms. Smith likely suffered a seizure before drowning in 

the bathtub. CP at 6, 12, 113. 

6 



This action was brought by Kathleen's mother, BettyJean Triplett, 

and her brother, Kevin Smith, for a violation ofcivil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 

1983. Plaintiffs claim that Kathleen's Fourteenth Amendment substantive 

due process right to safety and bodily security were violated by Defendants 

when she was left in the bath unattended.2 This is the second time the case 

has come before the Court of Appeals. In Triplett v. State, Dep't ofSoc. & 

Health Servs., 166 Wn. App. 423, 268 P.3d 1027 (2012), this Court reversed 

the trial court's denial of summary judgment and ordered dismissal of 

Plaintiffs' state law 'Wrongful death and survival actions. 

While the interlocutory appeal of the state tort law case was pending, 

the Ninth Circuit decided Campbell, 671 F.3d 837, upholding summary 

judgment dismissing a § 1983 case with facts remarkably similar to the 

instant case. Campbell held that a voluntary resident at a state operated 

residential facility for mentally disabled persons, who died after nearly 

drowning during an unsupervised bath, was not deprived of her Fourteenth 

Amendment substantive due process right to bodily safety and security. 

Defendants here sought summary judgment based on Campbell, together 

with well-settled federal decisional law precluding § 1983 claims against 

2 The Plaintiffs claim violation of a constitutional right to the companionship of 
Kathleen. Assuming arguendo that Plaintiffs have such a right, their § 1983 action is 
dependent on a showing that a state actor violated Kathleen's constitutional rights. See 
Toguchi v. Chung. 391 F.3d 1051, 1060 (9th Cir. 2004); Corafes v. Bennett, 488 
F.Supp.2d 975 (C.D. Cal. 2007). 
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state agencies or officials. The trial court denied summary judgment on all 

of the grounds asserted and this Court granted discretionary review. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard Of Review 

A party is entitled to summary judgment when, after reviewing the 

pleadings, affidavits, and depositions in the light most favorable to the 

non-moving party, the court finds that there is no issue of material fact and 

the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); 

Ruffv. County of King, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995). A 

material fact is a fact which will affect the outcome of the litigation. Id. 

A defendant may show that there are no material facts at issue, or that the 

plaintiff cannot meet the burden of proof to establish the required elements 

of a claim. Guile v. Ballard Comty. Hasp., 70 Wn. App. 18,21,851 P.2d 

689, review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1010, 863 P.2d 72 (1993); Celotex Corp. 

v. Catrett, 477 u.s. 317,325, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986). 

To establish a § 1983 claim, the plaintiff must show that (1) a 

"person" (2) acting under color of state law (3) deprived the plaintiff of a 

right protected by the Constitution of the United States or federal law. 

42 U.S.C. § 1983, Levine v. City ofAlameda, 525 F.3d 903, 905 (9th Cir. 

2008). In addition, when qualified immunity is alleged, the plaintiff has 
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the burden of establishing that the right allegedly violated was "clearly 

established" so that the defendant would have known that the conduct 

complained of violated the constitution. Elder v. Holloway, 510 U.S. 510, 

514,114 S. Ct. 1019, 127 L. Ed. 2d 344 (1994). Appellate courts review 

summary judgments de novo and engage in the same inquiry as the trial 

court. Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 654, 

692 n.l7, 15 P.3d 115 (2000). 

B. 	 Summary Judgment Should Have Been Granted Because No 
Federally Protected Right Was Violated 

1. 	 Failure To Supervise Ms. Smith's Bath Did Not Violate 
Her Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Right 

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment "does not 

transform every tort committed by a state actor into a constitutional 

violation." DeShaney v. Winnebago Cnty. Dep'l ofSoc. Servs., 489 U.S. 

189, 202, 109 S. Ct. 998, 103 L. Ed. 2d 249 (1989). DeShaney and cases 

following it established that a state actor's failure to fulfill a duty to 

protect a citizen from injury, while actionable under state tort law, is 

seldom actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because an individual's 

constitutional right to safety/protection from injury is not violated unless 

either the "special relationship" or "state created danger" exceptions 

apply. Campbell v. Slate, Dep't ofSoc. and Health Servs., 671 F.3d 837, 

842-43 (2011). The "special relationship" exception applies when a 
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person is taken into custody involuntarily and held against hislher will. Id 

(citing DeShaney, 489 U.S. at 198-200). The "state created danger 

exception" applies only when a state actor "creates or exposes a person to 

a danger he or she would not have otherwise faced." Campbell, 671 F.3d 

at 845 (citing Kennedy v. City o/Ridgefield, 439 F.3d 1055, 1061 (9th Cir. 

2006)). Here, as in Campbell, no constitutional right was violated because 

neither exception applies. 

2. The Campbell Case 

The material facts in Campbell are almost the same as the facts in 

the instant case. Justine Campbell was a 33-year-old voluntary resident in 

a state operated residential facility, where she was attended and cared for 

by DSHS employees. Campbell, 671 F.3d at 839-840. Ms. Campbell, like 

Kathleen Smith, was placed in the state residence by her family because 

she had a seizure disorder together with mental disabilities that allowed 

her to be fairly independent in her everyday life but also required daily 

care and assistance. Id Because of her seizure disorder, Ms. Campbell's 

care plan for many years required that she be closely supervised while 

bathing and that a baby monitor be used to monitor her while bathing. Id. 

However, in the year of her death, the baby monitor requirement was not 

included in the care plan, which only required that Ms. Campbell not be 

left alone too long. Id. Like Kathleen Smith, Justine Campbell was a 
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voluntary resident at the state facility, but because of her mental disability, 

her movements were monitored and the doors at the horne were locked to 

make sure she did not wander away from the horne. Id 3 

Justine Campbell was left unsupervised in the bathtub and was 

found unconscious in the bath water. Id at 841. She was partially revived 

but passed away several days later due to complications caused by the near 

drowning. Id Her mother sued Justine Campbell's DSHS caregivers 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claiming they violated her civil rights by failing to 

include the baby monitoring provision in Justine's care plan and failing to 

properly supervise her bath. Id at 841-42. 

The trial court in Campbell examined the state's relationship with 

Justine Campbell and granted summary judgment dismissing the civil 

rights action on the grounds that Justine's right to bodily security and 

safety guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment had not been violated. 

Campbell v. Washington, 2009 WL 2985481, *8 (W.D. Wash. 2009). 

Further, the trial court in Campbell held that even if Ms. Campbell's right 

was violated, the caregivers were entitled to qualified immunity because 

the right was not clearly established at the time of her death so that the 

caregivers would have known that their conduct violated Justine 

3 At the cottage at Lakeland Village where Kathleen Smith resided, doors were 
locked at night. During the day, residents like Ms. Smith who were ambulatory could 
walk around the grounds at Lakeland. CP at 142-44. 
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Campbell's constitutional right. fd at *9. The Ninth Circuit affirmed, 

holding that neither the special relationship nor state created danger 

exceptions applied because (1) Justine Campbell was a voluntary 

resident, and was not in state custody held against her will (no special 

relationship), Campbell. 671 F.3d at 842-45, and (2) Ms. Campbell's death 

was caused by pre-existing physical and mental limitations, which were 

not created or made worse by the state (no state created danger), 

Campbell, 631 F.3d 845-47, -therefore, Ms. Campbell's Fourteenth 

Amendment substantive due process right was not violated. Campbell, 

671 F.3d at 839. The Ninth Circuit did not reach the "clearly established" 

prong of qualified immunity. 

Campbell is a published decision and therefore is controlling 

authority in the federal trial courts in the Ninth Circuit, Sanders County 

Republican Cent. Committee v. Fox, 717 F.3d 1090, 1091-1092 (9th Cir. 

2013). Campbell is persuasive authority entitled to great weight in 

Washington state courts and it applies to cases filed both before and after 

its publication. Strange v. Spokane County, 171 Wn. App. 585, 593-95, 

287 P.3d 710 (2012). 
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3. 	 There Was No Special Relationship Because Ms. Smith 
Was A Voluntary Resident At Lakeland Village 

In DeShaney, the United States Supreme Court held that the special 

relationship exception giving rise to a constitutional duty to protect a person 

from hann arises only "when the State takes a person into its custody and 

holds him there against his will." DeShaney, 489 U.S. at 199-200. The 

Court explained the exception as follows: 

The rationale for this principle is simple enough: when the 
State by the affirmative exercise of its power so restrains an 
individual's liberty that it renders him unable to care for 
himself, and at the same time fails to provide for his basic 
human needs-e.g., food, clothing, shelter, medical care, 
and reasonable safety-it transgresses the substantive limits 
on state action set by the Eighth Amendment and the Due 
Process Clause ...The affirmative duty to protect arises not 
from the State's knowledge of the individual's predicament, 
or from its expressions of intent to help him, but from the 
limitation which it has imposed on his freedom to act on his 
own behalf 

Id at 200. 

An involuntary custodial relationship is the threshold element of the 

special relationship exception and voluntary residence in a state operated 

facility does not satisfY the requirement, as the Ninth Circuit explained in 

Campbell- "Mere custody, however, will not support a 'special relationship' 

claim where a 'person voluntarily resides in a state facility under its 

custodial rules.'" Campbell, 671 F.3d at 843 (quoting Walton v. Alexander, 

44 F.3d 1297, 1305 (5th Cir. 1995)); see also Torisky v. Schweiker, 446 F.3d 
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438,446 (3d Cir. 2006): "Thus a custodial relationship created merely by an 

individual's voluntary submission to state custody is not a 'deprivation of 

liberty' sufficient to trigger the protections of Youngberg. ,,4 

Kathleen Smith was not an involuntarily committed mental patient. 

On the contrary, it is undisputed that Kathleen Smith had been a voluntary 

resident at Lakeland since the age of 14. Therefore, under Campbell and 

DeShaney, Ms. Smith's voluntary residence at Lakeland did not create a 

special relationship and no Fourteenth Amendment right was violated by the 

alleged failure to supervise her bath. 

Respondents' position, argued in the trial court, is that Ms. Smith's 

residence at Lakeland was transformed from voluntary to involuntary 

because the doors to Ms. Smith's cottage were locked at night for security, 

her movements were closely monitored, and Lakeland personnel could have 

taken action to prevent her from leaving Lakeland by herself or with 

someone else. It is undisputed that because of her disability, Ms. Smith was 

not able to live on her own and needed round-the-clock care. However, by 

providing the care and security Kathleen Smith needed, Lakeland did not 

take Kathleen into custody against her will but rather fulfilled her needs. See 

Campbell, 671 F.3d at 843-44. 

4 In Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 309, 102 S. Ct. 2452, 73 L. Ed. 2d 28 
(1982), the Supreme Court extended the Fourteenth Amendment substantive due process 
right to reasonable safety to involuntarily committed mental patients. 
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In Campbell, the Ninth Circuit considered the arguments that placing 

locks on doors to control Justine Campbell's ability to leave her home, 

maintaining control over which home she would live in, maintaining control 

of her transportation, diet, and wardrobe and maintaining control over how 

and when Justine bathed converted her custody from voluntary to 

involuntary. Recognizing that such measures were taken to protect 

Ms. Campbell's safety, provide needed care, and allow her to live as 

independently as possible given the nature of her disability, the Court 

rejected the argument, stating:

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