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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Summary Judgment is only appropriate where the pleadings, 

depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, 

together with any affidavits, demonstrate that there are no genuine 

issues as to any material facts and that the moving party is entitled 

to judgment as a matter oflaw. Washington CR 56(c). "A material 

2 Petitioner has consistently argued throughout the course of this litigation 
that Campbell stands for the proposition that a special relationship can 
never arise in a voluntary commitment. To the contrary, the court in 
Campbell. supra, recognized that a voluntary commitment may over time 
take on the character of an involuntary one and commitments formerly 
labeled as a voluntary may arguably amount to de facto deprivations of 
liberty from their inception. Campbell. 671 F.3d at 843 citing Torisky y. 
Schweiker. 446 F.3d 438, 446 (3 rd Cir. 2006). Further, that affirmative acts 
taken by a state against an individual's will can amount to involuntary 
custody. Campbell. 671 F.3d at 845, citing Deshaney v. Winnebago Cnty. 
Dep't. of Soc. Seas., 489 U.S. 189. 
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fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends in 

whole or in part." Hash v. The Children's Orthopedic Hosp., 110 

Wn.2d 912, 915, 757 P.2d 507 (l988)(citing Barrie v. Hosts of 

America, Inc .. 94 Wn.2d 640, 642, 618 P.2d 96 (1980)). The moving 

party is held to a strict standard and must overcome the burden of 

demonstrating that there are no issues of material fact. Atherton 

Condo Ass'n v. Blume Dev. Company, 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 798 

P.2d 250 (1990). All facts presented and any inferences drawn from 

those facts are viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving 

party and any uncertainties regarding genuine issues of material 

facts are resolved against the moving party. Id. 

B. 	 SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS APPROPRIATEL Y 
DENIED BECAUSE THE DISPUTED FACTS 
DEMONSTRATE THAT APPELLANTS VIOLATED MS. 
SMITH'S 14TH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO 
REASONABLE SAFETY OR BODILY SECURITY. 

To establish a 42 U.S.C. §1983 claim, an individual must 

demonstrate that (1) the conduct complained was committed by a 

person acting under color of state law; and (2) the conduct deprived 

the plaintiff of a constitutional right. L.W. v. Grubbs, 974 F.2d 119, 

120 (9th Cir. 1992) citing Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep't, 901 

F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1988). Courts should "liberally and 

beneficently" construe the rights protected by §1983. Dennis v. 

Higgins, 498 U.S. 439,443, 111 S.Ct. 865, 112 L.Ed.2d 969 (1991); 

Citing Monell v. City of New York Dept.. of Social Services, 436 
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V.S. 658, 684, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 2032, 56 L.Ed.2d 611 (1978). It is 

well established that a state's failure to protect a person's 

constitutional right of reasonable safety or bodily security violates 

the 14th Amendment where (1) a special relationship exists between 

the state and the person; and/or (2) where the state created the danger 

to which the person succumbed. C/., DeShaney v. Winnebago Cnty. 

Dept. of Soc. Servs., 489 V.S. 189, 200, 109 S.Ct. 998, 103 L.Ed.2d 

249 (1989). Whether a special relationship exists or the state 

created a danger is a highly fact dependent analysis. Patel v. Kent 

Sch. Dist., 648 F.3d 965, 975 (9th Cir. 2011); See also Youngberg 

v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 319 n.25, 102 S,Ct. 2452, 73 L.Ed. 28 

(1982); 	Cf Campbell v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Srvcs., 671 

(9thF .3d 837, 839 Cir. 2011 )(stating the facts regarding the 

decedent's life and circumstances of her death are relevant to the 

court's analysis). In the instant case, the facts demonstrate that 

Petitioners created the danger which resulted in Kathleen's death 

and further, that special relationship existed based upon the 

involuntary nature of her commitment to Lakeland. 

1. 	 The trial court correctly concluded that material issues of 
fact exist as to whether Petitioners violated Kathleen's 
right to reasonable safety or bodily security by creating 
the danger resulting in Ms. Smith's death. 

Petitioners created the danger which resulted in Kathleen's 

death by leaving her unattended while bathing with a known seizure 

disorder in direct violation of a specific bathing directive mandating 
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arm's length visual supervision at all times. The gravamen of a 

"danger creation" claim is affirmative conduct by a defendant that 

places a plaintiff in danger with deliberate indifference to the 

plaintiffs safety. Penilla v. City of Huntington Park, 115 F.3d 707, 

709 (1997); Citing L.W. v. Grubbs, 974 F.2d 119, 121 (9th Cir. 

1992) and Wood v. Ostrander, 879 F.2d 583,588-90 (9th Cir. 1989), 

cert. denied, 498 U.S. 938,111 S.Ct. 341,112 L.Ed.2d 305 (1990)). 

A state creates the danger where a state official leaves a person 

in a situation that was more dangerous than the one they found 

the person in. Kennedy v. City of Ridgefield, 439 F.3d 1055, 1062 

(2006) (emphasis added). The critical issue in a state created danger 

analysis is not the distinction between danger creation and whether 

a state actor generated or enhanced the danger but rather whether 

state action or inaction placed an individual at risk. Penilla, 115 F.3d 

at 710. 

In the instant case, leaving Kathleen unattended while 

bathing with her known seizure disorder left her in a situation that 

was more dangerous than had Mr. Noland remained by her side 

while she bathed as mandated. See, Kennedy v. City of Ridgefield, 

439 F3d at 1062. This deliberate indifference to her safety placed 

her at greater risk ofdrowning due to her seizure disorder. Penilla v. 

City of Huntington Park, 115 F.3d at 710. Petitioners rely upon 

Campbell, supra, for the proposition that they cannot be held liable 
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for violating Kathleen's right to bodily security because she had a 

seizure disorder. In so arguing, Petitioners make the same mistake 

as the appellants in Penilla supra, by construing Kathleen's seizure 

disorder as the key issue in this analysis rather than whether or not 

leaving her 'unattended/unsupervised twice, for as much as forty 

minutes in total with a known seizure disorder, placed Ms. Smith at 

greater risk than she would have been in had Mr. Noland adhered to 

the bathing directive and visually supervised her within arm's length 

as required. In short, Petitioners argue that because they didn't make 

Kathleen's seizure disorder worse, they can't be held liable. This 

rationale is frankly illogical and ignores the prevailing legal 

authority. Petitioner's reliance upon Campbell, supra, does not 

change the analysis. That court reached its decision based upon 

dissimilar facts finding that the facts more closely resembled those 

in the previous cases Patel, supra and Johnson v. City ofSeattle, 474 

F.3d 634 (9th Cir. 2007) where the courts had not found facts 

sufficient to impose a state-created danger exception. Campbell, 671 

F.3d at 845. In Patel, the defendant had no knowledge of an 

immediate risk to the plaintiff and was in fact "fairly active" in 

protecting the plaintiff rather than ignoring a known risk. Patel, 648 

F.3d at 975-76. Similarly, in Johnson, the court found that police 

decision to change a plan to protect individuals at a Mardi Gras 

parade from an aggressive operation to a passive one placed the 
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plaintiffs in no worse position than they were in had there been no 

plan at all. Johnson, 474 F.3d at 641; See also DeShane):: 489 U.S. 

at 203 (explaining that at most, it could be said that the state actors 

failed to act under suspicious circumstances). Again, the decision 

was fact specific and dissimilar to Kathleen's case. By contrast, the 

facts in her case closely resemble the facts in Penilla, Wood, and 

Kenned)::, supra. In Wood, the court found a danger-creation 

exception existed where a police officer arrested the intoxicated 

operator of an automobile but left the female passenger of the 

vehicle stranded at 2 :30 a.m. in an area with a known, very high 

aggravated crime rate and the female passenger was assaulted. See 

generally, Wood, 879 F.2d 583. The court in Wood explained that 

leaving the female passenger on the side of the road at night in a 

high crime area indicated deliberate indifference for the passenger's 

safety. Id, at 588. In Kennedy, a police officer promised to warn the 

plaintiffs before he informed the plaintiffs' neighbors of allegations 

against them and provide additional patrols but did neither despite 

knowing the plaintiffs' feared violent retaliation from their 

neighbors. See generally, Kennedy, 439 F.3d 1055. The police 

officer acted with deliberate indifference because he knew of the 

danger faced by the plaintiffs but failed to take the actions he had 

promised to undertake to mitigate this danger. rd, at 1065. 
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In Penilla, supra, the court found a danger-creation 

exception where police officers examined an individual and found 

him to be in serious medical need yet canceled a call to the 

paramedics and moved the individual from his porch, where he was 

in view of his neighbors, to the inside of his house, where no one 

could see him. Penilla, 115 F.3d at 710. The officer's actions were 

held to be affirmative actions which placed the individual in a more 

dangerous position than he was in prior to the officers' involvement. 

Id. This holding is consistent with the 9th Circuit's interpretation of 

Deshaney, supra, "'that if affirmative conduct on the part of a state 

actor places a plaintiff in danger, and the officer acts in deliberate 

indifference to that plaintiffs safety, a claim arises under § 1983." 

Id. 

Mr. Noland's actions on March 26,2006 give rise to a State 

created danger exception. He placed Kathleen in the bathtub and 

twice left her unattended for as much as forty minutes, despite 

knowledge that he was required to visually supervise her within 

arm's length at all times due to Kathleen's seizure disorder. His 

actions constitute an affirmative action with deliberate indifference 

to a known danger that Kathleen could drown if she suffered a 

seizure while left unattended. This in fact occurred and gives rise to 

a § 1983 claim. CP at 101, 111. Contrary to the Petitioner's claim, 

the factual differences between Kathleen's case and Campbell, 
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supra, are precisely those facts which give rise to the danger

creation exception in this case. Unlike the plaintiff in Campbell, 

supra, Kathleen's IHP included a bathing directive that required 

staff provide visual supervision, within arm's reach, of Kathleen at 

all times while she bathed CP at 93-94. Lakeland staff were 

required to follow Ms. Smith's bathing directive, which was put in 

place to protect her health and safety as a result of her seizure 

disorder. CP at 91-92, 95-96. The staff were trained to provide the 

care outlined in the IHP and were required to document compliance 

each day with a patient's bathing directive. CP at 92. Petitioners 

concede that Mr. Noland knew of Kathleen's bathing directive and 

its purpose of protecting her safety because she had a history of 

seizures when he placed her in the bathtub and left her unattended. 

CP at 104-05. This is indicated by Mr. Noland's signature on the 

June 20, 2005 bathing directive for Lakeland patients with seizure 

disorders. CP at 104-05. 

In Campbell, supra, unlike the instant case, the defendant 

adhered to Ms. Campbell's bathing plan which was not considered 

a mandatory directive. Specifically, at one time Ms. Campbell's 

Personal Support Plan ("PSP") included a bath specific protocol 

which could be construed as a directive that required Ms. Campbell 

to be monitored closely including via a baby monitor while she was 

in the bathtub. Campbell, 671 F.3d at 840. However, at the time of 
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her injury, her PSP no longer included the bath specific protocol but 

instead contained a general instruction that only required Ms. 

Campbell's caregivers to check on her regularly for safety reasons. 

Id. The undisputed facts demonstrated that defendant, consistent 

with the general instruction, checked on Ms. Campbell 

approximately four times in twenty minutes. Campbell, 671 F.3d at 

841. Unfortunately, on the fourth time Ms. Campbell was found 

unresponsive in the bathtub. Id. Ms. Campbell passed away a week 

later with the cause of death determined as "anoxic-ischemic 

encephalopathy due to near drowning". Id. These facts stand in stark 

contrast to the instant case where Kathleen died by drowning as a 

result of a seizure when Mr. Noland left her alone for as long as 40 

minutes in direct contravention of a specific bathing directive 

mandating arm's length visual supervision at all times. Like the facts 

in Penilla, Wood and Kennedy, supra, Mr. Noland's actions created 

the danger that Kathleen would drown from a seizure disorder by 

leaving her alone in the bathtub. This placed Kathleen in a worse 

position than she would have been had Mr. Noland been at her side 

when her seizure occurred. Mr. Noland acted with deliberate 

indifference because he knew of the danger Kathleen faced of 

drowning due to a seizure yet he failed to mitigate the danger by 

remaining at her side while she bathed. See, Penilla v. City of 

Huntington Park, 115 F3d 707 (1997) (police officers examined and 
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found individual in serious need yet canceled call to paramedics and 

moved individual into his house where no one could see him); Wood 

v. Ostrander, 879 F.2d 583 (9th Cir. 1989) (female passenger left on 

side of road at night by police in a high crime area known to have 

high aggravated crime rate and female passenger assaulted); see 

Kennedy v. City ofRidgefield, 439 F.3d 1055 (2006) (police officer 

failed to warn plaintiffs about informing neighbors of allegations 

against them and provide additional patrols despite promising to do 

so with respect to plaintiff's fear of violent retaliation from 

neighbors). 

Petitioners or, more specifically, Mr. Noland placed 

Kathleen in a bathtub and walked away from her despite knowledge 

of her seizure disorder and a mandatory directive requiring him to 

stay within arm's length visual supervision of Kathleen due to a 

concern that she might drown from her known seizure disorder. Mr. 

Noland's actions placed Kathleen in a worse position than she had 

been ifhe had stayed by her side. This deliberate indifference led to 

her death and provides the basis for a danger created exception 

giving rise to a §1983 claim. 

2. 	 The trial court correctly concluded that material issues of 
fact exist as to whether there was a "special relationship" 
between the defendants and Ms. Smith as a result of the 
restrictions on Ms. Smith's freedom to act for herself. 

A 	 special relationship existed between Petitioners and 

Kathleen because the State had affirmatively restricted Ms. Smith's 
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liberty to act on her own behalf and state actors took affirmative 

action with deliberate indifference to Ms. Smith's safety, resulting 

in her death. When a state affirmatively restricts a person's liberty 

to act on their own behalf, "through incarceration, 

institutionalization, or other similar restraint ofpersonal liberty," a 

"special relationship" results giving rise to Due Process Clause 

protections. DeShaney, 489 U.S. at 200 [emphasis added]; See also 

Campbell, 671 F.3d at 842. The state has a duty to protect a person's 

bodily security when a "special relationship" exists arising from, 

"the limitation that state has imposed on the person's freedom to act 

for himself." Campbell, 671 F.3d at 843; citing Deshaney, 489 U.S. 

at 200; See also Clark v. Donahue, 885 F. Supp. 1159, 1161 (1995). 

A commitment that was initially voluntary may become involuntary 

and some commitments labeled "voluntary" may in reality be 

involuntary commitments. Campbell, 671 F.3d at 843; citing 

Torisky v. Schweiker, 446 F.3d 438, 441 (3d Cir. 2006); see also 

Clark, 885 F. Supp. at 1162 (1995). The relevant inquiry for 

determining whether a special relationship exists is determined by 

the specific circumstances of a plaintiffs confinement rather than 

merely whether the plaintiffwas voluntarily committed. Youngberg, 

457 U.S. at 319 n.25; C.f Campbell, 671 F.3d at 839; See also Clark, 

885 F. Supp. at 1162. Petitioners incorrectly assert that there can be 

no special relationship because Ms. Smith was not involuntarily 
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committed to Lakeland. The existence ofa special relationship does 

not tum on the labeling ofa person's commitment but rather whether 

the circumstances of hislher confinement at the time in question 

amount to a restraint of their personal liberty. Campbell, Toriskey, 

Clark, supra. A special relationship had arisen between Kathleen 

and the Petitioners because Lakeland had assumed all control of Ms. 

Smith's behavior, treatment, provision ofcare and living conditions, 

could and did make changes to her care and living conditions 

without permission, and further failed to provide the level of care 

promised when Ms. Smith came under Lakeland's control. 

Clark v. Donohue, 855 F.Supp. 1159 (1995) involves facts 

where the court concluded the voluntary commitment had in fact 

become involuntary as a result of the state's action. In Clark, the 

plaintiffs had been voluntarily committed to a state run mental

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